1949

J. Harold Mitchell v. Arrowhead Freight Lines, Ltd. And Marvin C. Van Patten : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This action was brought by the plaintiff, J. Harold Mitchell, for the purpose of recovering for personal injuries sustained by him arising out of an automobile accident which occurred April 3, 1947, about 2:15 P.M. on U. S. Highway 91, south of Beaver, or about fifteen miles north of Paragonah, Utah, at a place called Muley Point. The highway was a two-lane asphalt road, nine-

teen and a half feet in width exclusive of the graveled shoulders two and a half to three feet wide. (Tr. 388) A dust storm had developed, and the defendant, Marvin C. Van Patten, a truck driver, was driving a truck and trailer of the co-defendant, Arrowhead Freight Lines, Ltd., in a southerly direction following a Buick four-door sedan, driven by Charles S. Pace of Payson, Utah, attached to which was a small boat trailer. Van Patten had so followed the Buick through the dust storm for some two miles on a slight down grade at a very slow rate of speed, about 10-15 miles per hour (Tr. 425, 471). In following the Buick through the dust area, Van Patten would have to hold the truck back to stay behind (Tr. 441). He came to a long straight of way where it appeared the dust was clearing, and he could see down the highway a sufficient distance, so that he thought he had a good opportunity to pass (Tr. 426, 446). Seeing no northbound cars approaching, he pulled out to the left to get into position to pass and had barely pulled up to about the middle of the boat trailer attached to the Buick (Tr. 424-5) when he saw plaintiff's 1946 pick-up Chevrolet truck driven by plaintiff Mitchell coming from the opposite direction crossing the highway diagonally from west to east (Tr. 425-7). The evidence is not certain as to the distance plaintiff's truck was then away, but there were varying estimates of from 100 feet (Tr. 462) to 100 yards (Tr. 427, 458). Pace estimated the distance at from 25 to 50 yards (Tr. 471) ahead of his Buick, which would probably figure out about 100 to 175 feet between the front of defendant's truck and the front of

plaintiff's pick-up. Plaintiff denied that he was at any time on his wrong side or that he had come from the west side of the highway (Tr. 237). He claimed to be stopped or stopping on the east side of the highway (Tr. 237). Van Patten, upon seeing plaintiff's truck, immediately attempted to stop (Tr. 430) and swung his equipment abruptly to the east, entirely off the improved portion of the highway. Plaintiff also headed his small pick-up continuing across the paved portion and across the east shoulder and out into the barrow pit, where the collision occurred, the vehicles hitting at an angle, so that the left front of the Mitchell truck hit the right front corner of defendants' truck (Tr. 430-2). See also plaintiff's Exhibit V. The small Mitchell truck swung around to face southeast parallel with the larger truck, just enough to turn the small truck around (Tr. 440). See plaintiff's Exhibit T. (Also Tr. 460-1).

The evidence is not entirely clear as to how far east of the highway the point of impact was, the distance varying from three to four feet east of the paved portion (Tr. 395) to as far as ten or fifteen feet (Tr. 429). One estimate was fifteen feet east of the center line (Tr. 454-5), which would be around five or six feet east off the paved portion.

The following diagram, which is a photostatic copy of defendants' Exhibit 6, illustrates some of the testimony, including the position of the trucks to the east of the highway where the collision occurred.

The rectangle, marked with the figure 4, illustrated the position and direction of the Mitchell truck when first seen by Van Patten and Pace (Tr. 460, 446, 447). The three rectangles together east of the highway shown fifteen feet from the center line were illustrative of defendants' truck, marked with a figure 1, plaintiff's truck marked by the figure 2 (to illustrate in what manner the trucks came together), and the rectangle marked with the figure 3 is the position of plaintiff's truck where it came to rest (Tr. 435).

Plaintiff's Exhibit T is a photograph introduced in evidence by plaintiff, which shows the position of plaintiff's truck with respect to defendants' truck as it came to rest. The picture is also illustrative of the point of impact on the small truck, that is, plaintiff's truck on the left front (Tr. 436). See also plaintiff's Exhibit V.

The plaintiff, J. Harold Mitchell, was fifty-one years of age at the time of the accident. His occupation was that of a school teacher, having been so engaged at Safford, Arizona for twenty-four years (Tr. 232). Before the accident, he had arranged to terminate his connections with the Safford School District as of July 1, 1947 (Tr. 332). His salary at the time of the accident as superintendent was \$4800.00 a year. There were 1250 pupils under his supervision from kindergarten to the twelfth grade (Tr. 233). He owned a ranch and farm in or near Parowan, Utah, and had intentions of getting the ranch into operation and then resuming his occupation as a school teacher, running the ranch on the side (Tr. 359-

60). He had no intention of returning to Safford either before or after the the accident (Tr. 354-5).

Following the accident, he was taken to the hospital at Cedar City, where he was under the care of Dr. L. V. Broadbent for thirteen days. The general nature of plaintiff's injuries as testified to by Dr. Broadbent were a fractured rib (Tr. 205), fractures of the lower jaw, one simple fracture near the point of the chin (Tr. 200) and compound comminuted fractures on both sides of the lower jaw (Tr. 200). Other general injuries consisted of moderate concussion (Tr. 194, 211), a badly cut left ear (Tr. 192), swelling about the face (Tr. 209), some hemorrhage about the eye (Tr. 210), small lacerations requiring one or two or three stitches (Tr. 212) and shock (Tr. 213). There was also loss of several upper teeth, later necessitating the use of an upper plate.

After the thirteen days, he left the hospital, spending the next few days in and around Parowan, returning to Safford, Arizona, April 22, 1947. There he was in bed for a week or two (Tr. 245, 280) and was treated until May 16th by Dr. F. W. Butler, his family physician, leaving Safford June 3rd, the following month, for Parowan, where he has lived since. In Salt Lake, he was attended by Dr. K. L. Dedekind, oral surgeon, and Dr. W. Les Warburton, who took care of his teeth inserting an upper plate. He received no other medical treatment except a few visits to the office of Dr. Paul S. Richards in Bingham, Utah, between June 18, 1947, and July 2, 1947 (Tr. 512). He was also examined by Dr. Reed Clegg

on January 15, 1948, and April 20, 1948, just preceding the trial. The testimony of these physicians, and the nature and extent of plaintiff's injuries will hereafter be discussed in greater detail. Suffice it to say here that the principal complaint at the time of the trial was *some* (or as was described by Dr. Clegg "moderate") *limitation of motion of the jaws and neck*; otherwise the evidence showed that he had overcome, or was overcoming, his injuries, but plaintiff testified as to his then present inability to do the hard physical work on his farm.

Annuity tables, combined with the American Experience of Mortality or Life Expectancy tables, were offered and received in evidence over defendants' objections. The jury returned a verdict in favor of plaintiff and against both defendants on the first cause of action of \$18,691.72 general damage, plus \$1,638.50 special damage, on the second cause of action \$1,264.00 making a total verdict of \$21,594.22.

Both defendants have appealed from the judgment.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Errors in Relation to the Annuity Tables

The court erred:

1. In admitting in evidence the annuity tables (Plaintiff's Exhibit X) over defendants' repeated objections to said tables and the entire line of such evidence, based upon the grounds that they were incompetent, irrelevant and immaterial, insufficient founda-

tion laid, and specific objection the form of such evidence as offered by said exhibit, and that the entire line of such evidence and some of the questions and answers in relation thereto assumed facts which were not in evidence. (Tr. 405, 418, 410, 411, 412, 541).

2. In denying defendants' motion to strike said tables. (Tr. 541.)

3. In giving instruction No. 22(Tr. 79), excepted to (Tr. 546), which effectively told the jury to use such tables and in connection therewith, failing in any way to qualify the mortality table used in connection with said Exhibit X.

4. In instructing the jury by its instruction No. 17 that plaintiff was "entitled to compensation for his actual loss of *past earnings*, if any, and for the impairment of earning capacity * * * in the future," (Tr. 75), excepted to (Tr. 545).

5. In refusing to give defendants' requested instruction No. 15 (Tr. 100) withdrawing the annuity tables from the jurors' consideration; excepted to (Tr. 547).

6. The court erred in overruling (Tr. 31), Paragraph 2 (i) of defendants' demurrer to plaintiff's amended complaint (Tr. 27) relating to special damages in the nature of wages paid on the ranch.

Errors as to other Instructions

The court erred:

7. In giving its instruction No. 6 (Tr. 63) excepted to (Tr. 544).

8. In giving its instruction No. 7 (Tr. 64) excepted to (Tr. 544-5).

9. In giving its instruction No. 8 (Tr. 65) excepted to (Tr. 545).

10. In giving its instruction No. 10 (Tr. 67) excepted to (Tr. 545).

11. In refusing to give the latter part of defendants' requested instruction No. 6 (Tr. 90) excepted to (Tr. 546).

12. In refusing to give defendants' requested instruction No. 9 (Tr. 94) excepted to (Tr. 547).

13. In refusing to give defendants' requested instruction No. 18 (Tr. 103) excepted to (Tr. 547).

14. The court erred in denying defendants' motion for a new trial (Tr. 118-119; 152).

We have briefly stated the assignments of error particularly relating to the instructions of the court for the reason that the instructions complained of are hereinafter set forth in greater detail. We have grouped the assignments so that those relating to the annuity tables can be considered together, and those relating to the court's instructions on negligence and contributory negligence can be considered in a separate group.

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR NOS. 1 TO 6

Error in Admitting Annuity Tables

The trial judge refused to permit us to argue the question of admissibility or propriety of the annuity tables (Plaintiff's Exhibit X) as to form, and overruled our repeated objections to their introduction in evidence based upon the several grounds hereinabove stated. It was acknowledged these objections should go to the entire line of testimony (Tr. 411, 412, 416), and all of defendants' objections were renewed in the form of a motion to strike the annuity tables, Plaintiff's Exhibit X (Tr. 541).

This court in *Pauley v. McCarthy*, (Utah) 184 Pac. (2) 123, apparently realizing the misuse of these tables in many cases and the vicious effect they usually have upon the jurors, placed a definite restriction upon the use of such tables, as follows:

"We wish to make it clear that we do not hold that in every case where permanent injuries are alleged and evidence in support thereof is introduced, that the mortality and annuity tables are admissible. We go only so far as to hold that where the injury alleged and proved is permanent and is of such nature as to indicate a permanent material impairment of a substantial nature in the earning capacity of the plaintiff, the mortality and annuity tables are admissible."

Therefore, in the instant case, we have presented the question as to whether there was evidence to support a finding not only that plaintiff's injuries were *perma-*

ment, but such as to prove “*a permanent impairment of a substantial nature in the earning capacity of the plaintiff.*” Other objections to the particular tables used in this case are raised in this appeal.

THE PLEADINGS

In the instant case, while plaintiff by his pleadings claimed that his injuries would render him unable to carry on his duties as a school teacher (See paragraph 5 of plaintiff’s amended complaint, Tr. 21), he did not claim that his earning capacity was *permanently* impaired in connection with the operation of the ranch, but in substance alleged by paragraph 11 of the amended complaint, that it was necessary to employ other parties to perform some of the work, and by reason thereof suffered loss of earnings to the then amount of approximately \$3,000 (Tr. 23).

It is also significant that plaintiff, by his pleadings, based his claimed neck injury upon the existence of fractures in the vertebrae, as follows:

“That by reason of the fracture and injury to his cervical vertebra, plaintiff suffers from stiffness in the neck and pain upon motion * * * that the injuries to his neck and nervous system *may* be permanent in character.”

As we shall see from the evidence, any possible fracture of the neck or cervical vertebra, as testified to by Dr. Butler (which was the reason plaintiff probably believed he had a broken neck) was entirely disproved

by plaintiff's own witnesses, Drs. Broadbent and Clegg. If not, it was clear that any possible fracture or even chip fracture (which Dr. Clegg indicated could have been a possibility) *had entirely healed*, and there would be no disability due to fractures. Plaintiff himself acknowledged he did not require any particular treatment as to his claimed neck injuries (Tr. 346-7).

THE EVIDENCE

The only lay testimony as to plaintiff's inability, if any, to teach school was plaintiff's answer to his counsel's question:

“Q. Would you be able, from a physical standpoint, to carry on your vocation as a school teacher or school superintendent at the present time?

* * *

A. I wouldn't want to try to continue my school work *at the present time*.

Q. Why?

A. I just simply feel like I couldn't handle it *this year.*” (Tr. 332)

He was paid for the full school year, ending July 1, 1947 (Tr. 354-5). He was taking part in activities in the community, and had been teaching a Sunday School class for about two months and singing in a choral group for about five weeks (Tr. 353).

As to the ranch and his activities in connection therewith, he testified:

“I had intended to come to Parowan where my farm property was, farm and ranch property, and to, first of all, get that in condition so that it would operate properly, and then, if conditions arose whereby I could continue my school work, I had always expected to do that.” (Tr. 359-60)

“I have a farm and some livestock range, the farm itself consists of what they call thirty and a quarter acres of water; that acre, however, calls for about 1.8 hours of water from the portion of the stream that comes down the Parowan Canyon. * * * You can irrigate on that, most any season, two to two and a half times that much land. * * * I have about 98 acres at the present time that I’ll attempt to irrigate this summer. * * * As to grazing lands, I have pastures there in the valley, and winter grazing set-up over in the north end of the valley, privately owned, and some public domain, then I have approximately fourteen hundred acres of summer grazing mountain land, eight to ten miles south of Parowan.” (Tr. 333)

He further testified that in connection with this ground, he ran sheep and cattle. During the past year, he paid his brother wages, \$150 a month, to operate the ranch and farm, (Tr. 333) from June until the 2nd day of December, 1947 (Tr. 334). He (plaintiff) was personally able to do very little ranching or farming work up until December of 1947. Since that time, December, 1947, there has been very little to handle, just a few

chores to do during the winter time. Now spring is opening up, there is real work down there. "At the present time, my father has been helping a little, and my son has been helping." (Tr. 334)

He testified to being able to do the chores and substantially all of the work around the farm and take care of the farm, except the heavy work like hoisting grain and things of that kind. He was able to manage the farm (Tr. 353).

He could drive an automobile in pretty good shape, although he had some difficulty in turning to look to the rear; that at the time of trial, he was engaged in farming; that he was then unable to do "strenuous physical work, *I don't do that well.*" He could drive the tractor, although he wouldn't undertake to drill grain (Tr. 248). "I can ride horses, trusty horses, all right, if I take it easy. * * * I don't usually get them off the walk." That he has some pain and discomfort when he attempts to lift heavy objects (Tr. 249). That he was unable to pitch hay without some pain (Tr. 250).

He said his ribs had entirely cleared up; that he had no dizziness; that his headaches have diminished quite considerably, although they were still with him; that his breathing was "quite definitely cleared up." (Tr. 344) That he didn't require any particular treatment as to his claimed neck injuries (Tr. 346-7).

Plaintiff was the only lay witness to testify regarding his condition.

MEDICAL TESTIMONY

DR. L. V. BROADBENT

Dr. L. V. Broadbent, the attending physician at Cedar City took x-rays of the skull and jaws, Exhibits E and G, (Tr. 197-8), an x-ray, Exhibit F, of the jaw after the jaw was wired (Tr. 202), and x-rays of the shoulders and ribs, Exhibits I and J (Tr. 204-5). The x-rays showed a fractured rib and fractures of the lower jaw as heretofore described. Treatment for the most part consisted of reducing the fractured jaw and wiring the jaws into position and suturing the left ear. He further testified that after wiring the jaws, there was good alignment and good apposition with respect to those fractures (Tr. 205).

With respect to the x-rays of the cervical spine, he said: "I was unable to demonstrate to my satisfaction that there was a fracture to the back bone or cervical vertebra. * * * I didn't find any. The positions of alignment were good. * * * I was looking particularly for a fracture in that area, but *I couldn't demonstrate one.* (Tr. 217) Damage to tissue causes pain; they repair themselves." (Tr. 218)

As to the ear, he stated that the blood supply would regenerate and that the ear was then well attached (Tr. 220-21), a slight scar remaining behind the ear. (Tr. 194) There was no skull fracture. (Tr. 223) He left the hospital April 16th after thirteen days, and never returned for further treatment. (Tr. 209) No opinion was expressed

by Dr. Broadbent regarding the permanency of plaintiff's injuries.

DR. F. W. BUTLER

The testimony of Dr. F. W. Butler, plaintiff's personal physician, was taken by deposition at Safford, Arizona, March 6, 1948, and read at the trial. He testified to having treated plaintiff April 22nd to May 16th, his last visit. (Tr. 281) His general description of the injuries is much the same as that of Dr. Broadbent. (Tr. 261-2) He said that plaintiff was at home up to May 4th, but that he was able to come to the office for the next appointment May 9th. (Tr. 280) He took x-rays, plaintiff's Exhibits B and C, May 9, 1947. Exhibit B was an incomplete exposure. Exhibit C related to the cervical vertebra. Exhibit A of the frontal sinuses was taken May 16th. (Tr. 261)

Dr. Butler's testimony differed from that of the other doctors in that he gave as his opinion that Exhibit C showed "a fracture in the body of the first cervical vertebra" and "a comminuted chip about one-fifth the size of the body of the first cervical vertebra." (Tr. 269, 282) He then gave as his opinion, based upon the existence of the fractured vertebra, that the injury to the neck would be of a permanent nature, and that there would "be some limitation of motion there * * * limitation of motion in all spheres, side, lateral, up, down, back—all spheres of motion." (Tr. 271) He had operated on plaintiff for an appendectomy about two weeks prior to the accident. (Tr. 277) And had previously treated plaintiff

for gall bladder trouble the preceding March. (Tr. 278-9, 286) That the last treatment was rendered by him May 16, 1947. (Tr. 281) That plaintiff finished all his regular routine work before leaving Safford June 3rd. (Tr. 283) That he made a wonderful recovery—he would not say a complete recovery, but he made a remarkable comeback. (Tr. 284) That with reference to the vertebra, he did not ever have him wear a Forester collar. (Tr. 284) In fact, if there was a fracture, the condition had healed to the extent that he did not think a collar was necessary, and if it had healed that much in that three weeks period, it would continue to heal. That he believed plaintiff would continue to get better right along, except that he was not qualified to express an opinion as an expert on nerve injuries. (Tr. 285)

On re-direct examination, Dr. Butler summed up his opinion as follows: “Well, I had still in my mind that the last time I saw him he had this limitation of motion in his neck and he had pain in his jaw and quite a lot of nervousness.” (Tr. 287)

DR. K. L. DEDEKIND

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