1949

J. Harold Mitchell v. Arrowhead Freight Lines, Ltd. And Marvin C. Van Patten : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

said crossing, by the use of his senses of sight and hearing in looking and listening for the approach of the said train, could have discovered that it was approaching, and have avoided said collision, then the plaintiffs cannot recover in this case.' The eighth instruction is as follows: 'If, without so looking and listening for an approaching train, a person attempts to cross a railroad track, and is injured by a passing train, his own careless conduct is deemed, in law, to have assisted in bring about the injury, and he cannot complain of the other party concerned in the transaction, even though such other party may have also been negligent.' It is contended that the tenth instruction omits the subject of contributory negligence. The charge, taken as a whole, fully covered the question of negligence on the part of the defendant, and contributory negligence on the part of the plaintiff. It is not always possible to cover all the questions arising in a case in one sentence or paragraph. It is sufficient if the whole charge, when taken and construed together, states the law fairly and correctly. As said in *Hamer v. Bank*, 9 Utah, 220, 33 Pac. 941: 'The mere omission in one part of the charge by the court of certain elements, though material, when they are substantially given in another part, will not be ground for reversing the judgment. On this point, Thompson, in his work on Trials (Volume 2, Section 2407), states the law as follows: 'The charge is entitled to a reasonable interpretation. It is construed as a whole, in the same connected way in which it was given, upon the presumption that the jury did not overlook any portion, but gave due weight to it as a whole; and this is so although it consist of clauses originating with different counsel, and applicable to

different phases of the evidence. If, when so construed, it presents the law fairly and correctly to the jury, in a manner not calculated to mislead them, it will afford no ground for reversing the judgment, although some of its expressions, if standing alone, might be regarded as erroneous, or because there may be an apparent conflict between isolated sentences, or because its parts may be in some respects slightly repugnant to each other, or because some of them, taken abstractedly, may have been erroneous." ' Anderson v. Mining Co., 16 Utah 38, 50 Pac. 815; State vs. McCoy, 15 Utah 141, 49 Pac. 420; Reese vs. Mining Co., 17 Utah 496, 54 Pac. 759."

If instruction No. 7 and instructions No. 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 were consolidated into one instruction and given by the trial court, there could be no error. There is no conflict of the law in the different instructions and if taken together or considered as a series, they present the law much more favorably to the defendants than they were entitled. They, therefore, have no just complaint.

Another Utah case directly in point in this respect is the case of Morgan v. Mammoth Mining Co., 1903, 72 Pac. 88, which involved an instruction that directed a verdict for the plaintiff if the jury among other things found that certain chairs which struck plaintiff were out of repair or out of working order. The instruction did not contain a qualification that the chairs must have been out of repair a sufficient length of time to enable the defendant by the exercise of ordinary care, to discover and remedy the defect, a formula instruction with a

necessary element missing. The court said, at page 689:

“This criticism might be regarded as having some force if the matter of knowledge of the defective condition of the chairs or notice thereof were explained nowhere else in the charge. In paragraph 5, however, the law respecting this subject is clearly stated . . . when, therefore, the two paragraphs are read together, and are considered in connection with the evidence to the effect that the defects had existed for a period of about 2 months prior to the time of the accident, there appears to be no reason for assuming or holding that the jury were misled, under these circumstances. It being conceded that paragraph 6, abstractly considered, does not state the law with absolute precision, still it does not amount to reversible error. Where, as here, a charge considered as a whole states the law applicable to the case fairly and correctly, it is sufficient. Olsen vs. OSLRR, 24 Utah 460, 68 Pac. 148.”

The holding in the Beyerle v. Clift case also flies in the face of our statute, Section 104-39-3, Utah Code Annotated, 1943, which provides: No exception shall be raised unless the decision excepted to is material and prejudicial to the substantial rights of the parties excepting.”

The case of State v. McCoy, 15 Utah 141, 49 Pac. 421, holds as follows:

“ Instructions must be considered together and omission to fully state the law in one part of the instruction, where the omission is fully and accurately supplied in the instructions which

follow, does not constitute reversible error, unless when from the whole charge it is reasonably apparent the jury were misled, citing cases.”

To the same effect is the case of *Roth v. Chatlos*, 97 Conn. 282, 116 Atlantic, 332. In that case the court gave the following instructions, appearing at page 333:

“If you find that the defendants’ driver, by simply continuing on the right hand side of the highway, could have avoided the accident, then your verdict must necessarily be for the plaintiff. He must prove one of the grounds of negligence, but he need not prove all of them; and if you find that said automobile was being driven at a dangerous rate of speed and that said accident could not have been avoided had said automobile been driven at a lower speed, then your verdict must necessarily be for the plaintiff.

“This request was erroneously received since it left out of consideration the plaintiff’s contributory negligence and left to the jury the determination of the defendant’s conduct as the sole issue of the jury’s verdict, when the plaintiff’s conduct, as well as the defendant’s was upon the claims of the parties and the evidence before the jury, essential to a proper verdict.

“This request was read to the jury in the early part of the charge, and thereafter with great fullness and sufficient accuracy, the trial court properly presented to the jury both of these issues:—the negligence of the defendant, and the contributory negligence of the plaintiff. This was done in such a way, that we think it quite impossible that the jury should have failed to have

understood that their finding that the plaintiff was guilty of contributory negligence would bar his recovery, and so too, we think the jury must have understood in what the plaintiff's contributory negligence was claimed to have consisted."

The principle is also recognized in 14 Ruling Case Law, 813:

"And also instructions given ignoring facts tending to establish a defense, the defendant cannot complain if such defense is covered in other instructions given at his request."

To the same effect is *St. Louis Southeast Railway Co. v. Graham, Arkansas*, 102 Southwest 700 at 702:

"Criticisms are made of some of the instructions in that they seem to permit a recovery if the jury finds the defendant guilty of negligence, without qualification, and unless they find the deceased not guilty of contributory negligence. Taking these instructions as a whole, the court thinks that they make it clear to the jury that contributory negligence on the part of the deceased would defeat a recovery, even should they find the defendant guilty of negligence. It is generally impossible to state all the law of the case in one instruction, and if the various instructions separately present every phase of its as a harmonious whole, there is no error in each instruction failing to carry qualifications which are explained in others, citing cases."

See also *Meadows v. Pacific Mutual Life Insurance Co.*, Missouri, 1895, 31 Southwest 578.

In the California case of *Brower v. Arnstein*, 14 Pac. 2d 863, the court attempts to distinguish the facts of that case from the earlier case of *Beyerle v. Clift*, *supra*, but nevertheless holds that the giving of formula instructions acknowledged to lack essential elements of recovery was not reversible error where otherwise instructed upon. We quote from that case beginning at page 865:

“Appellant also urges various and sundry claims of error against instructions given and refused by the trial court. The most vigorously pressed of these claims relate to the alleged failure of certain so-called ‘formula’ instructions to individually contain a recital of all the elements essential to recovery by plaintiff. If these instructions are by a process of dislocation from the general charge, so separated from each other as to then be viewed with over-technical nicety, they would unquestionably be subject to the objections urged by appellant. But the very method of the giving of these so-called ‘formula’ instructions indicates plainly that they were not intended to so operate or to have such effect. They were merely intended in the first instance to advise the jury how their verdict should go in the event the respective matters set forth in the pleadings were either established or failed of establishment one way or the other. In other words, the instructions were not intended to, nor did they purport to state the several elements essential to a verdict as such in detail, but, instead, those matters were made the subject of separate specific instructions; the court’s intention being merely to supply by reference to the pleadings a statement as to how the verdict of the jury should go in the event plaintiff did or did not establish negligence as

charged in his pleadings, or in the event he did so establish negligence as charged in his pleadings, or in the event he did so establish such negligence, how in such event the verdict should then go if contributory negligence was or was not established. They were not 'formula' instructions of the type condemned in *Beyerle v. Clift*, 59 Cal. App. 7, 9, 209 P. 1015, where the pleaded element of contributory negligence was entirely omitted from an instruction directing a verdict. However, the particular omission in the instructions upon which appellant places the most stress is their serious failure to at any time define or express in direct terms the principle of 'proximate cause.' This is indeed a most serious omission, and we are not unmindful that in reversing the case of *Long v. Barbieri* (Cal.) App. 7 P. (2d) 1082, 1087, because of certain instructions of a more obviously erroneous character, we indicated the added weight that had been given the errors in question because of the similar failure of the trial court to define 'proximate cause,' by declaring: 'It should be further noted that the trial court omitted to give any instruction whatsoever defining 'proximate cause,' and the jury were thus left to their own varying conceptions, if any, as to what might constitute this always related and ever essential principle of the doctrines of negligence and contributory negligence.'

"It must therefore be conceded that in failing to directly define and present to the jury for their consideration, the legal principle embraced within the term 'proximate cause' the trial court committed an error of no inconsiderable magnitude. Its effect, however, is substantially weakened and mitigated in the present case by and through the effect of the very numerous and de-

tailed instructions given by the court at the request of defendant, in which almost every conceivable element of the multitude of defensive principles of law open to and urged by him were specifically presented to the jury. These directly set forth the many and numerous circumstances upon which, in the event their existence was established by the evidence, the verdict of the jury may just be for defendant, or plaintiff could not recover; and among these in connection with the terms 'negligence' or 'negligent' the word 'proximately' is frequently used.

"The jury was also instructed: ' * * * Where negligence is charged, it devolves upon the person charging it, if he would prevail as to that charge, to establish * * * it by a preponderance of evidence.' The court also, and as a part of its general charge, repeatedly instruct the jury in the utmost detail upon numerous matters that would constitute negligence on the part of plaintiff, and thus defeat recovery. At no time did the appellant now urging the error of its omission, tender to the court an instruction defining 'proximate cause,' or request that qualifying instructions to those of which he complains be given.

"The cumulative effect of these considerations leads us to place our determination of the merit of appellant's contention (that the failure of these instructions to define 'proximate cause' is reversible error) fairly within the scope of the expression of a similar determination arrived at by our Supreme Court, in *Wirthman v. Isensein*, 182 Cal. 108, 110, 111, 187 P. 12, 13, where it is declared: ' * * * where, as here, the court instructs that, to entitle respondent to recover, appellants must be guilty of negligence 'as alleged in the complaint', and that respondent himself

must be blameless and free from any contributory negligence, it must have been made perfectly clear to the jury that a finding by them that appellants were guilty of the negligence so described, the respondent himself being blameless, would of necessity amount to a finding that such negligence was the proximate cause of the injury. *Weaver vs. Carter*, 28 Cal. App. 241, 152 P. 323. Furthermore, the court's instructions, so far as they went, correctly stated the law, and if appellants desired a qualifying instruction to the effect that, to entitle respondent to recover, appellants' negligence must be the proximate cause of the injury, it was incumbent upon their counsel to either ask the court to give such qualifying instruction, which it undoubtedly would have done, or have presented an instruction embodying it. Having failed to do either, appellants are in no position to complain of the instructions given. *Weaver vs. Carter*, *supra*; *Townsend vs. Butterfield*, 168 Cal. 564, 143 P. 760; *O'Connor vs. United Railroads*, 168 Cal. 43, 141 P. 809.' "

Abbot v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co. (California) 3 Pac. 2d 56, 57, is a very good case. It states:

"Appellant first complains of instruction No. 12, which informs the jury as to the amount of recovery to which respondents are entitled if the jury finds certain facts to be true. The criticism of the instruction is that it is a 'formula' instruction which fails to include the essential element of knowledge of the falsity of the representations on the part of the appellant. There are several answers to the criticism. It will suffice to say that in instructions 1 to 11 the jury had been advised of the allegations of the complaint charging fraud; that instruction No. 3

particularly dealt with the allegations respecting Daum's knowledge of the falsity of the representations complained of; and that instruction No. 12 directed a verdict for respondents if the jury found that all these representations were made and that respondents had been deceived 'as alleged'. The complaint fully alleged every essential element for recovery in a case of this kind and the instruction complained of took all these allegations into consideration. This is not a case of a directed verdict on a single issue or upon a limited number of the issues involved. All the instructions must be read together and, in so reading them, we find no conflict between No. 12 and those preceding, but a general summary telling for a verdict. The case is somewhat similar to the jury of every element which must be found in *Robinet v. Hawks*, 200 Cal. 265, 273, 252, P. 1045, where the trial court used the expression 'under the instructions as I have given them to you.' See also *Douglas v. Southern Pacific Co.*, 203 Cal. 390, 394, 264 P. 237, where the Supreme Court holds in effect that where, as here, the instruction complained of does not purport to be a complete statement of the law upon which plaintiff's might recover and the other instructions are amplifications of and not in conflict with that instruction the objection of 'formula' instruction is not sound. Putting it in other words, *when the tone of the instructions as a whole denotes that no single instruction was intended to be a complete statement in itself but that all the instructions are to be taken together and, when these instructions fully and correctly state the law without conflict, then no one instruction may be singled out for criticism because it does not completely state all the elements necessary for recovery.'*

In its instructions 1 and 2, the court set out a summarized statement of the issue, No. 1 containing the claims of the plaintiff and No. 2 containing the claims of the defendant as raised by the pleadings. Then the court gave the following instruction No. 3:

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